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Housekeeping 
MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. Good morning.   

MS DWARKA: Good morning, my Lord.   

Before I start with the opening statement, my Lord, I just wish to clarify a point about my advocacy 
experience, if I may.   

I have higher rights to appear in both criminal and civil courts but have only appeared as an advocate 
twice in any criminal courts. I have indeed appeared frequently as an advocate in civil cases to deal 
with various types of applicaƟon in court management hearings. I don't frequently undertake trials 
but I have undertaken some trials in smaller cases, but nothing of the level that I am about to do. 
With that point out of the way, I will make a start with the opening submissions.   

Opening submissions by MS DWARKA 
MS DWARKA: Mr Thomson's case is that he is an enƟrely innocent and honest man whose life has 
been turned upside down and whose career has been wrecked by the acƟons of the Financial 
Conduct Authority, the Serious Fraud Office and the claimants in these proceedings. The FCA 
effecƟvely closed down the business of LCF when they raided its offices in December 2018 and their 
acƟons forced the business into administraƟon. But they have never provided a coherent, definiƟve 
or convincing account of their reasons for taking the acƟons they did.   

There have been no fewer than four official or semi-official inquiries:  

(1) the FCA's own invesƟgaƟon;  

(2) the invesƟgaƟon carried out by Dame Elizabeth Gloster who was commissioned by HM Treasury 
to carry out an invesƟgaƟon into the FCA's regulaƟon of LCF;  

(3) an invesƟgaƟon into the auditors by the Financial ReporƟng Council; and  

(4) the invesƟgaƟon carried out by the Complaints Commissioner in response to dissaƟsfied 
complainants to the FCA. None of these inquiries have called upon Mr Thomson for his evidence or, 
so far as he is aware, that of any other director of LCF.   

Indeed Dame Gloster's inquiry simply assumed the fraud and then asked why the FCA had failed to 
detect it sooner.   

Mr Thomson was arrested and interviewed by the SFO only once in 2019. He was made the subject 
of a restraint order under the Proceeds of Crime Act in 2019, but he has never been charged, and 
that is the full extent of his dealings with the public authoriƟes of this country.   

It is, in itself, wholly extraordinary that a person should be subject to a restraint order for five years 
without being charged and without any apparent invesƟgaƟon having taken place over at least the 
majority of that period.   

Turning to these proceedings, Mr Thomson denies that he has incurred any liability to these 
claimants. He set up and ran the business of LCF honestly and with integrity. He set out to establish a 
model business, filling a gap in the lending sector leŌ vacant by the banks, namely, asset-based 
lending where the lender takes a realisƟc and commercial view of the value of a business asset and 
its ability to repay. He took, and acted upon, advice from well regarded professionals. He engaged 
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with internaƟonally regarded auditors. He engaged with public authoriƟes, including both HMRC and 
the FCA.   

He planned to move the enƟre business, aŌer only three years, into the regulated sector to make it 
more profitable and to provide greater security to investors. Notwithstanding all those efforts, he 
found that his business was closed down and taken away from him for no good or even discernible 
reason.   

Since then, he has been subjected by the public authoriƟes of this country, by the office holders who 
are the claimants in these proceedings, and by ordinary members of the public who find themself 
encouraged, emboldened, by officialdom to a campaign of vilificaƟon -- that is not too strong a word 
-- in the media and in forums and chat rooms online. The effect on him and his family has been 
profound. He suffers from serious, diagnosed mental illness. His wife has stood by him stoically, but it 
is clearly extremely difficult for her. She has had to deal with media aƩacks upon her husband, and 
strangers coming to the house and threatening personal assault and baƩery and arson.   

Their children have been very badly impacted. Their elder daughter has developed a stress-related, 
life-threatening condiƟon which leaves her prone to periods of unconsciousness and in need of 
constant monitoring which has resulted in immediate hospitalisaƟon.   

Her GCSEs and A levels have been severely affected. She has been home schooled for the laƩer, and 
her passion for horses and a career in evenƟng has been destroyed.   

Their twin teenage sons have been aƩacked and beaten up at school by the children of bondholders 
and their associates on a number of occasions. Their educaƟonal aƩainments have been diminished 
by an inability to concentrate and a period of acute anxiety caused by seeing their father arrested at 
home in front of them and by repeated accusaƟon in the school that their father is a criminal. Their 
youngest daughter is struggling to cope with her studies.   

They recognise very well the impact on the people who put their money into LCF. People such as 
Chloe, who features in the claimant's prologue but they say that the blame which is heaped upon 
them is misdirected. It is also right to menƟon, with appropriate cauƟon and not in any way to 
diminish the impact on people's lives, that the majority of the investors in LCF have been 
compensated by the FSCS which is now by far the largest single creditor of LCF.   

Had LCF not been closed down by the authoriƟes, in parƟcular the FCA and its then CEO, now the 
Governor of the Bank of England, Andrew Bailey, the likelihood is that LCF would have thrived and 
that it would have collected from its exisƟng borrowers at the maturity of their loans. More or less, 
the likelihood is that LCF would have moved into a regulated sector in 2019 and diversified its 
offering to the public and expanded its borrowers' pool.   

It follows from what I have just said that the likelihood is that, had LCF not been closed down by the 
authoriƟes, it would have repaid its bondholders in full.   

By comparison, the administraƟons have been a disaster. The latest administrator's report shows 
realisaƟon across both administraƟons to 29 January 2024 of 88,706,310 achieved at a cost of 
80,740,986. Leaving a net recovery of approximately 8 million, of which 5.9 million has made its way 
to creditors.   

No doubt some money has been held back on account of the conƟnuing cost of this trial.   
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In the process, they have borrowed heavily from liƟgaƟon funders at an apparent rate of 29 per cent. 
Mr Thomson has commented to us that, at this rate, they would have done beƩer to borrow from 
LCF, whose business model they so heavily criƟcise. Mr and Mrs Thomson, and Mr Thomson in 
parƟcular, welcomed the opportunity afforded by these proceedings to set out in a public court their 
posiƟon in relaƟon to these maƩers for the first Ɵme in five years. Turning now to these proceedings 
and the legal analysis. First, let's remind ourselves of some basic rules of pleading. I have three 
points, my Lord. One, if it is not pleaded, you can't rely on it at trial. That is held in a case of Smith v 
BoƩomley which, my Lord, is found at <S2/117>. This was a case about the development of a 
property by two individuals, one of whom then sued the other. Various financial claims were made in 
the pleadings but there was no claim for an account which was made for the first Ɵme in counsel's 
skeleton argument. Lord JusƟce Lloyd said, at paragraph 70:   

"... [counsel] sought to treat a claim clearly set out in a witness statement as being ..."  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, shall we just go to it in the ...  

MS DWARKA: Yes. Paragraph 70. <S2/117>, paragraph 70.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: I think it is 70, is it?  

MS DWARKA: Yes.   

(Pause).   

Shall I conƟnue, my Lord?   

MR JUSTICE MILES: I am just looking at it. Sorry, what was the new claim? I am just -- it doesn't 
appear from that paragraph.   

MS DWARKA: In the maƩer? It is a claim for an account which was raised by counsel for the first Ɵme 
in the skeleton in that case.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Okay. Yes.   

MS DWARKA: At paragraph 70:   

"... that [counsel] sought to treat a claim clearly set out in a witness statement as being a sufficient 
subsƟtute for a pleaded case. That is not acceptable in liƟgaƟon of this kind."   

He went on to say:   

"Ms Smith's claim having been set out reasonably clearly in the parƟculars of claim, any addiƟonal 
claim should have been brought into line, in terms of procedure, by amending the parƟculars of 
claim so as to make all relevant allegaƟons, thereby puƫng the maƩer firmly and clearly in issue, 
with the consequences as regards evidence and disclosure that this would have."   

In paragraph 71, the judge went on to observe that the Ɵme for the opposing party to object is in 
opening submissions, which is why we are raising these maƩers now.   

My Lord, I don't think you need to look at the report but --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: Shall I conƟnue?   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, yes, carry on.  
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MS DWARKA: My Lord, the point is covered in more detail in our wriƩen opening at paragraphs 33 to 
39, if you wish to have a look at that later.   

There --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Let's look at that now. I would like to look at what you are referring to as we go 
along, please.   

MS DWARKA: Sure.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Do you have a reference for the ...  

MS DWARKA: The page?   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Well, for Epiq. Do you have reference to where your --   

MS DWARKA: Sorry, yes, I do. It is <A2/3>, paragraphs 33 to 39, I think. It is page 14 of the digital 
document, paragraph 33, all the way to ...   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Right. Thank you.   

(Pause).   

Yes.   

MS DWARKA: On this point, we gratefully adopt Mr Warwick's submissions about the claimant's 
aƩempt to go beyond their pleadings. We make a similar point at secƟon C of our opening 
statement. That is found at page 12 of the document.   

We don't think that your Lordship should make an order about this maƩer at this stage of the trial. 
Our reasons for saying that are: one, it is obvious that Mr Robins can't go beyond his pleadings, and 
he knows that; two, there are too many points in which he has done so for the court to make an 
order dealing with every point and that could give rise to controversy later about the meaning of the 
order. We say that the court should warn Mr Robins at this stage and intervene to stop him if he goes 
too far in cross-examinaƟon. Then, when it comes to wriƟng the judgment, you will have the 
pleadings before you and we have no doubt that you will determine the case fairly on the pleadings.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: I mean, it would be unusual for the judge to intervene in the course of cross-
examinaƟon, because it would be unexpected for the judge to have sufficient familiarity with the 
detail of the pleadings and so on. What normally would happen is that, if you objected to certain 
quesƟoning and said that it was outside the scope of the pleadings, then the court would then 
consider the maƩer, look at the pleadings with the assistance of submissions, and then decide 
whether the cross-examinaƟon should be allowed or not. So it wouldn't be a maƩer of passively 
waiƟng for the judge to intervene, because that is just not how it works.  

MS DWARKA: Yes, my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Judges bear as an umpire on these maƩers.   

MS DWARKA: We will try to intervene when required.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: I will obviously hear what -- Mr Robins is going to make some submissions about 
the pleadings in due course, so I will obviously hear what he says about that.   

MS DWARKA: Sure.   
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On my second point about the pleadings, it is necessary to plead fraud with parƟcular care. My Lord, 
this is very well known, but, for the record, I will refer to the following provisions. Paragraph 8.2 of 
PracƟce DirecƟon 16 states:   

"The claimant must specifically set out the following maƩers in the parƟculars of claim where they 
wish to rely on them in support of the claim: "(i) any allegaƟon of fraud;   

"...   

"(iii) details of any misrepresentaƟon; "(iv) details of any breach of trust; and "(v) noƟce of 
knowledge of a fact."   

The next provision, my Lord, is the Commercial Court Guide at secƟon 1.3(c)(i):   

"Full and specific details should be given of any allegaƟon of fraud, dishonesty, malice or illegality, 
and ... (ii) where an inference of fraud or dishonesty is alleged, the facts on the basis of which the 
inference is alleged must be fully set out." My Lord, there are many cases where these principles 
have been set out by the High Court, but we like the formulaƟon given by Lord JusƟce MilleƩ in 
Armitage v Nurse.   

The report is in the authoriƟes bundle at <S2/56>, if your Lordship may care to refer to it. The 
relevant paragraph we are looking at is at [internal page] 256 and it is found at secƟon G at the 
boƩom:   

"The general principle is well known."   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: "The general principle is well known. Fraud must be disƟnctly alleged and as disƟnctly 
proved: Davy v GarreƩ ..."   

At page 489, per Lord JusƟce Thesiger: "It is not necessary to use the word 'fraud' or 'dishonesty' if 
the facts which make the conduct complained of fraudulent are pleaded. But if the facts pleaded are 
consistent with innocence, then it is not open to the court to find fraud.  

As Lord JusƟce Buckley said in Belmont Finance Limited v Williams Furniture Limited, at page 258: 
"'An allegaƟon of dishonesty must be pleaded clearly and with parƟcularity. That is laid down by the 
rules and it is a well recognised rule of pracƟce. This does not import that the word "fraud" or the 
word "dishonesty" must be ... used ... facts alleged may sufficiently demonstrate that dishonesty is 
allegedly involved, but where the facts are complicated, this may not be so clear, and in such a case it 
is incumbent upon the pleader to make it clear when dishonesty is alleged. If he uses language which 
is equivocal, rendering it doubƞul whether he is, in fact, relying on the alleged dishonesty of the 
transacƟon, this will be fatal; the allegaƟon of its dishonest nature will not have been pleaded with 
sufficient clarity'."   

In respect of my third point on the pleadings, my Lord, you can't, in a reply, either contradict your 
parƟculars of claim or introduce a new claim. If you do, you will be struck out. This is derived from 
the rules.   

Paragraph 9.2 of PracƟce DirecƟon 16 states: "A subsequent statement of case must not contradict 
or be inconsistent with an earlier one. For example, a reply to a defence must not bring in a new 
claim. Where new maƩers have come to light, a party may seek the court's permission to amend 
their statement of case."   
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We have included an authority Martlet Homes v Mulalley. If we could please turn up in the 
authoriƟes bundle at <S2/160>.   

My Lord if you could please read paragraphs 20 and 21 of the judgment.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: Obviously, we rely in parƟcular on the sentence in paragraph 20, which reads:   

"New claims must be added by amending the parƟculars of claim and cannot simply be pleaded by 
way of reply."   

The disƟncƟon which comes later in the paragraph is between (a) pleading new facts to refute a 
point in the defence which is permissible, and (b) pleading a new claim which is not.   

My Lord, I will come back to these rules of pleadings as I develop my submissions but, for now, I ask 
you to simply keep them in mind.   

I will now turn to the structure of the claims in these proceedings.   

There are five categories of claim. One, claims in fraudulent trading. There are two secƟons headed 
"Fraudulent Trading", secƟon E of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim on page 23 and secƟon G at 
page 53.   

The claim is brought against D1 as a director and D4 as a shadow or de facto director of LCF and 
against D2, 3 and 5 to 8 as parƟcipants in or, more properly, using the statutory language, parƟes to 
the alleged fraud. Second category, breach of duty claims against D1 and D4.   

Third category, part breach of duty claims against D2 and 3. These have gone because D2 and D3 
have seƩled.   

Fourth, knowing receipt claims against D1 to 10. And, fiŌh, dishonest assistance claims against D1 to 
9. The others are said to have dishonestly assisted D1 and D4 to breach their duƟes to LCF and D1 
and D4 are said to have dishonestly assisted each other. Standing back and just looking at the 
structure, that is a very odd way of doing it. The obvious things to have done would have been to use 
LCF's power in the security documents to appoint administrators to all of the ulƟmate borrower 
companies. I use the word "ulƟmate" because some of the loans were transferred or novated.   

Then, once office holders were in place in all of the borrower's companies, it would simply be a 
maƩer of enforcement.   

To the extent the security assets lacked the necessary value, possibly because the borrowed money 
had been taken out of the companies rather than been put into assets as the directors had promised 
Mr Thomson would be the case, then you would look at breach of duƟes claim against the directors 
of the borrowers' companies and unlawful distribuƟon claims against the shareholders. That way you 
would bring in all the necessary individuals who had taken money out of those companies. Those 
claims would, it seems to me, have been unanswerable.   

Then, when all the money had been retrieved and put back inside the borrower's companies, they 
could distribute to their creditors, principally LCF, and there would not need to be proceedings at all, 
except possibly between the borrower companies and their directors and shareholders. But, of 
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course, if you had done that in that simple way, you wouldn't have a claim in fraud against Mr 
Thomson. In fact, you wouldn't have a claim against Mr Thomson at all.   

I am put in mind of Mr Ledgister's comment that these administrators and their lawyers Mishcon de 
Reya and Mr Robins turned their fraud-detecƟon goggles up to max and saw fraud everywhere. We 
say that they structured the proceedings in the way they have because they felt that the public 
wanted Mr Thomson to be the scapegoat, but, for the reasons I have given your Lordship, it was not 
a sensible way to do it. I come now to fraudulent trading, which is a statutory tort.   

The wording of secƟon 246ZA which created the tort is set out at paragraph 48 of our opening 
statements. To save your Lordship going there, I will read it out.  

1: "If while a company is in administraƟon it appears that any business of the company has been 
carried on with intent to defraud creditors of the company or creditors of any other person or for any 
fraudulent purpose the following has effect."   

2.  "The court, on the applicaƟon of the administrator, may declare that any persons who were 
knowingly parƟes to the carrying on of the business in the manner menƟoned in subsecƟon (1) are 
to be liable to make such contribuƟon (if any) to the company's assets as the court thinks proper."   

The ingredients of a tort are, therefore: (1) the business of the company has to have been carried on 
with intent to defraud creditors; (2) the defendant has to have parƟcipated in the carrying on of the 
business with that intent; (3) the defendant has to have had knowledge of the fraud.   

Now, let's go to the re-reamended parƟculars of claim to see how it is put. That is found at <B1/2>. It 
is at secƟon E on internal page 23. It is pleaded very simply. There are only two respects in which the 
business of LCF is said to have been carried on with intent to defraud its creditors. The first is at 
paragraph 21 and that relates to the geƫng in of the money. It is said that the money was got in by 
the company making false representaƟons. The second is at paragraph 21A and there it is said that 
the company was run as a Ponzi scheme. Those are the only two allegaƟons that the business of LCF 
was carried on with intent to defraud its creditors, ie the bondholders. (1) false representaƟon, and 
(2) Ponzi scheme.   

Let's examine each of those now. (1) the representaƟons. These are set out at paragraph 7 of the re-
reamended parƟculars of claim.   

There are eight representaƟons pleaded at paragraph 7 but please start, my Lord, by reading 
paragraph 8.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: It says that LCF made the representaƟons expressly or by implicaƟon in informaƟon 
memorandums and brochures which were provided to bondholders. Then it simply says:   

"The claimants will say that the representaƟons are the express and/or implied meanings of the 
words contained in the IMs and the brochures." Then it says:   

"LCF made the representaƟons in telephone conversaƟons and/or meeƟngs ..."   

Or via its website.   

My Lord, this doesn't come close to the standard of pleading required by the rules, the guide or the 
authoriƟes.   
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It wouldn't come close if this was a case of negligent misrepresentaƟon. It certainly doesn't come 
close where there is misrepresentaƟons that are said to have been fraudulent.   

They should have set out, in relaƟon to each alleged representaƟon, (1) the precise words used; (2) 
where they were used in the IMs and brochures or on the website; (3) why the precise words can be 
disƟlled into the words used to formulate each representaƟon. Then there are the alleged oral 
representaƟons in telephone calls and at meeƟngs.   

Remember, my Lord, that the telephone calls were all recorded and that they have the recordings. 
They should have transcribed the recordings and put the ones complained of in a schedule and 
explained why the words used can be disƟlled into the words of an alleged representaƟon. Instead, 
they produced two short summary paragraphs which tell you very liƩle. We say, my Lord, that this is 
not a permissible way of pleading fraud. It does not meet the pleading standard set out in the rules 
and referred to in the authoriƟes. We deal with that, for your Lordship's note, at paragraphs 66 to 72 
of our opening statement. Now, let's take each representaƟon separately and see how the pleading 
unfolded.   

The first representaƟon. This is pleaded at paragraph 7.1 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim in 
the following terms:   

"Monies from bondholders would be lent by LCF to numerous unconnected small and medium-sized 
enterprises in the United Kingdom (or, from around August 2017, UK businesses) in arm's length 
transacƟons." Now, please read what is pleaded back to it in paragraph 10 of the amended defence, 
found at <B2/1>. At 10.2, Mr Thomson confirms that neither the IMs nor the brochures use the 
words "numerous". At 10.3, he confirms that those documents didn't use the words "unconnected".   

At 10.6, he confirms that, again, the IMs or the brochures did not use the words "arm's length 
transacƟons".   

If we go to the reply now, which is found at <B3/1> and look at paragraph 14. At 14(1), there is an 
admission that it didn't use the word "numerous" but then the claimant seeks to introduce new 
representaƟons.   

At 14(2), there is an admission that the documents didn't use the words "unconnected", but, again, 
the claimant seeks to introduce new representaƟons. At paragraph 14(3), there is an admission that 
the documents did not use the words "arm's length transacƟons", but, again, the claimant seeks to 
introduce new representaƟons.   

Now, we say, my Lord, that this -- isn't much leŌ on the first representaƟon. Omiƫng the words 
"numerous", "unconnected", and "arm's length transacƟons" the representaƟon now reads: "Monies 
from bondholders would be lent by LCF to small and medium-sized enterprises in the UK (or, from 
around August 2017, UK businesses)."   

MR JUSTICE MILES: That is not how I read the pleading at the moment. The pleading is saying, as I 
read it -- this pleading is saying, as I read it, that they are maintaining their case as set out in the 
parƟculars of claim, they accept that the documents did not include the express words "numerous", 
"unconnected", and "arm's length transacƟons", but they say that the natural meaning of those 
documents is that each of those features is to be, as it were, read into the document. Or another way 
of puƫng it, that the impression given by them is that the loans would be to numerous borrowers 
who would be unconnected and the terms would be on arm's length terms.   
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Now, I am just talking about the way it is pleaded. That is how I read that pleading at the moment, so 
I don't read them as puƫng forward different representaƟons. I read it as saying that those are -- 
that is the case which is being advanced.  

MS DWARKA: My Lord, we say that they are new representaƟons --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: I understand.   

MS DWARKA: -- in the way that it has been wriƩen. We say that they are not clarificaƟons and that 
the parƟculars should have been amended to reflect that.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Right.   

MS DWARKA: We also say that it is not very promising in the way that they have set out the 
parƟculars. Our posiƟon, my Lord, is that, on that, Mr Robins seeks to salvage the first representaƟon 
by introducing new versions of it in the reply, and that he is not allowed to do that. He should have 
amended the parƟculars.   

It follows, my Lord, that the only representaƟon that can go forward is the version without the words 
Mr Robins has admiƩed in the reply were not used, and we say that you cannot entertain the new 
representaƟons pleaded in the reply.   

My Lord, I now turn on to the second representaƟon. It is pleaded at paragraph 7(2) of the re-
reamended parƟculars of claim in the following terms: "Before agreeing to make any loan to any 
prospecƟve borrower, LCF conducted due diligence [DD] to saƟsfy itself that the borrower would be 
able to pay interest on the loan and to repay the principal amount of the loan on maturity."   

If we could please turn to paragraph 11 of the amended defence. That is at <B2/1>.   

The reference to there having been pre-lending due diligence is admiƩed, but the criteria by 
reference to which the due diligence was carried out are not admiƩed.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, I am just -- sorry, this hasn't come up on the screen I don't think.   

MS DWARKA: Sure. It is paragraph 11, amended defence.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. Okay.   

Yes.   

MS DWARKA: So the reference to there having been pre-lending due diligence is admiƩed. But the 
criteria by reference to which the due diligence was carried out are not admiƩed.   

Now, if we could turn to paragraph 15 of the reply. The reply is found at <B3/1>.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: We say that Mr Robins has done the same thing again. He tried to introduce new 
representaƟons there, my Lord. We say that he cannot do that. My Lord, my team will go through the 
reply and produce a version marking the passages where Mr Robins tried to introduce new claims 
and we will submit to your Lordship that they must be struck out, which was the course taken by Mr 
JusƟce Pepperall in the Martlet Homes case.   

The third representaƟon, my Lord. This is pleaded at paragraph 7(3) of the re-reamended parƟculars 
of claim in the following terms:   
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"LCF generated income to cover its overheads and to pay interest on the bonds by charging 
borrowers a one-off fee equal to 2 per cent of the amount of the loan and interest in the region of 10 
per cent per annum on the amount of the loan unƟl maturity." If we could go to paragraph 12 of the 
amended defence, that is at <B2/1>.   

(Pause).   

You will see there, my Lord, that those details are admiƩed as an example, ie something that was 
said in some informaƟon memorandums.   

If we now go to paragraph 16 of the reply, found at <B3/1>, my Lord, if you could please read that. 
(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: It confirms that those parƟcular details were given in some IMs, informaƟon 
memorandums. From the second sentence, which begins:   

"More parƟcularly ..."   

Mr Robins then seeks to introduce new or different representaƟons, which we say is impermissible 
for the reasons I have already given.   

Standing back, where does that leave the third representaƟon? It is alleged that some IMs put 
forward two figures, 2 per cent and 10 per cent, and that allegaƟon is admiƩed. But so what? As an 
allegaƟon of fraud, it is meaningless. There would need to be an allegaƟon explaining which IMs said 
that, what the other IMs said, informaƟon memorandums, and whether the brochures or the 
website said anything different so that the court could see the financial parameters of the scheme 
which the claimants say were provided to the public. But there is nothing like that. Just two figures, 
which appeared in some informaƟon memorandums. The fourth representaƟon.   

The fourth representaƟon is pleaded at paragraph 7(4) of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim in 
these terms:   

"LCF only lent moneys to creditworthy borrowers which were established small and medium-sized 
enterprises (or, from around August 2017, UK businesses) with a strong payment covenant."   

If we could go to paragraph 13 of the amended defence, found at <B2/1>.   

(Pause).   

The defence is that LCF didn't use the words "established" or "with a strong payment covenant". If 
you could please go to paragraph 17 of the reply, that is at <B3/1>.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: It asserts that the pleaded representaƟon was made and then seeks to introduce 
further representaƟons, which we say it must not do. The fiŌh to seventh representaƟons.   

My Lord, I can take these compendiously because the pleading is much more compressed.   

The fiŌh is that no monies were ever (nor ever would be) advanced to any borrower before the 
execuƟon of a legally binding loan agreement."   
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The sixth is:   

"Every prior loan had been (and ever future loan would be) fully secured by debentures and other 
security agreements in favour of LCF over assets of the borrower, with a value materially in excess of 
the amount of the loan."   

The seventh representaƟon is:   

"Borrowers' interests would be protected by an independent security trustee which had no 
connecƟon with LCF or any of its borrowers."   

Those are relaƟvely uncontroversial and I do not need to take your Lordship to them at this stage. 
The eighth representaƟon, this is pleaded at paragraph 7(8) of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim 
found at <B1/2> in the following terms: "An investment by bondholders in bonds was a secure 
investment which was capable of generaƟng high returns, oŌen in the region of 8 per cent per 
annum or higher." If we now go to paragraph 17 of the amended defence found at <B2/1>.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: The reference -- the defence makes reference to risk warnings, my Lord, which was 
included in all the materials and relevant documentaƟons.   

If we could now go to paragraph 20 of the reply, found at <B3/1>, it is said there that the risk 
warnings are irrelevant to Mr Thomson's liability for fraudulent trading.   

What is the court to make of that? The eighth representaƟon is clearly pleaded as being an 
evaluaƟve judgment which is provided to the public as having some merit. But where do the 
claimants say it comes from? It is presumably said to be the meaning of various wordings, but we 
don't know what words were used, what meaning they are said to convey and how that is jusƟfied, 
or even where the words are to be found. If it is said to have been expressly stated, we need to know 
where and the words used. If it is said to be a disƟllaƟon of the enƟre content of all the IMs, 
brochures and the website and possibly oral conversaƟons, we need to know from what consƟtuent 
parts that disƟllaƟon is said to derive. My Lord, this is totally unsaƟsfactory as a basis of a pleading of 
fraud. It comes nowhere near the standard, for all the reasons I have menƟoned. Moving on to 
falsity, my Lord.   

The pleading of falsity comes at paragraph 21 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim, found at 
<B1/2>. Will your Lordship please read that?   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, I am just waiƟng for it to come up.   

MS DWARKA: Sure.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: There is just a bold statement in the first sentence that each representaƟon was false 
in the premises, followed by eight subparagraphs, each of which addresses the matching 
subparagraph and says that the company did not do what it represented. There are no parƟculars of 
falsity and no aƩempt to take account of the concessions made in the reply. For example, in the case 
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of the first representaƟon the claimants accepted in the reply that the words "numerous, 
"unconnected" and "arm's length transacƟons" were not used, but, at paragraph 21.1, of the re-
reamended parƟculars of claim the pleading of falsity asserts that the representaƟon was false 
because LCF failed to lend to numerous unconnected borrowers in arm's length transacƟons. At the 
very least, the claimants should have updated the parƟculars of claim by amendment.   

We say it is a mess. It falls very far short of the level of clarity and parƟcularity required by the rules, 
the PracƟce DirecƟon, the Commercial Court Guide, and the end high level of authoriƟes such as 
Armitage.   

Paragraph 21 begins by staƟng that the representaƟons are false in the premises. So what are the 
premises in which each of the representaƟons is apparently to be seen to be false? They are not 
idenƟfied. Presumably, the answer is everything from paragraphs 10 to 20. That is not saƟsfactory 
either but it is all we have.   

One of the premises appears to be that the defendants received bondholder monies. That is at 
paragraph 10 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim found at <B1/2>.   

If you could please read that, my Lord. (Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: That paragraph is obviously wrong. The borrowers didn't receive bondholders' money. 
They received LCF monies. The monies become LCF's monies on receipt. So the pleading apparently 
means that the defendants received LCF's money and we discover from paragraph 12, if you could 
please read that too, my Lord.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: So we discover from paragraph 12 that there is a reference to money which is said to 
have derived originally from LCF but which the defendants received from other parƟes. That is part 
of the proprietary case, so it is difficult to see what it has to do with alleged fraudulent trading by 
LCF.   

Another of the premises appear at paragraph 14. If you could please read that, my Lord.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: So paragraph 14 says:   

"The fact that LCF's business was carried on with intent to defraud bondholders was concealed 
through the making of loans by LCF to various companies purportedly in bona fide arm's length 
transacƟons ... In reality, those borrowers were connected with and/or controlled by certain of the 
defendants ..."   

That is what it says, in essence.   

There is two problems with that. First, they abandoned their claim that LCF represented that it only 
loaned to unconnected companies. Even if they hadn't, the only connecƟon was that Mr Thomson 
had carried 5 per cent interest and knew the people. Neither of those things would establish 
connecƟon under all legal definiƟons.   
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Second, there is no explanaƟon of what was concealed. That is repeated at paragraph 17, which says:   

"The said loans were put in place to create a facade of legiƟmate business acƟviƟes, in order to 
conceal the fact that LCF's business was carried on with intent to defraud bondholders."   

The problem with that is that LCF's business was the making of loans. That was not a facade. That 
was all there was. If it was a facade, what was going on underneath which is said to have been 
concealed? How can loans be said to be a facade to conceal themselves, ie loans? It doesn't make 
any sense.   

The conundrum is never explained.   

There is no allegaƟon that the loans were shams or misappropriaƟons from LCF. The only parƟculars 
given at paragraph 17(1) to (16) of the re-reamended of parƟculars of claim are complaints that the 
borrowers were unsaƟsfactory borrowers or that the loan documentaƟon was deficient. My Lord, if 
you could please read paragraph 17(1) to (16).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Does it carry on over the page or not?  

MS DWARKA: Yes, it does. Next page.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. Then over the page. (Pause).   

Yes.   

MS DWARKA: None of those complaints, my Lord, even if true, are sufficient to support an allegaƟon 
of fraud because they are, in the words of Lord JusƟce MilleƩ in Armitage, consistent with innocence.   

In that regard, I gratefully adopt the submissions made to you last week by Mr Ledgister, who took 
you to at least one of the two sets of audited accounts. There was one set audited by PwC, the 2016 
accounts, then a second set audited by EY, Ernst & Young, the 2017 accounts. My Lord, they are 
found at <L1/7> for the 2016 accounts and <L1/8> for the 2017 accounts if you wish to look at them 
later.   

Of course, Mr Thomson's evidence will be that EY had completed their audit of the 2018 accounts, 
though it hadn't been completed before the FCA's raid. Those accounts establish that there was a 
competent, independent scruƟny of LCF's dealing and in parƟcular its loan book and security.   

The auditors signed off on it.   

I won't take up Ɵme with that now because your Lordship has already seen it.   

There is then a suggesƟon, at paragraph 18 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim, that some of 
the borrowers created dishonest transacƟons. There is a reference to the 2015 exit transacƟon in 
various iteraƟons, the Elysian SPA and the Prime SPA. But, so what if they did? What do those 
apparently unconnected transacƟons have to do with fraudulent trading in LCF? If there is said to 
have been a connecƟon, it would need to be pleaded, but it is not.   

In short, the first of the two ways in which it is pleaded that LCF carried on its business to defraud 
creditors is the allegaƟon that it made, and then breached, the representaƟons.   

The pleading on the representaƟons is a mess. The allegaƟon of breach is no beƩer. Various 
complaints are made but none of them is linked to a parƟcular representaƟon.   
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Crucially, and it is my most important point on this aspect of the case, the alleged fraudulent scheme 
is never actually described. Even if the representaƟons were made and were false, that wouldn't, 
without more, be a fraudulent scheme. There would have to be a purpose, and the purpose would 
have to be pleaded. They would need to be an explanaƟon, too, of whose purpose it was. Mr 
Thomson's or the enƟre board of directors'? If the former, it would have to be stated how Mr 
Thomson managed to bend the board of directors to his will.   

It could have been said, for example, that the loans were made simply as a way of giving money away 
to the borrower companies and that there was no intenƟon that they would ever be repaid. It could 
have been said that it was always intended that the money would then be extracted from the 
borrower companies unlawfully by the individual defendants as directors and shareholders and that 
Mr Thomson always knew that that would consƟtute an allegaƟon of fraudulent trading. But none of 
those things are said.   

On the contrary, there is no allegaƟon that the loans were shams or misappropriaƟons. The only 
allegaƟon of misappropriaƟon relates to money that the defendants did not receive from LCF. So 
there is nothing in this part of the pleading that supports the contenƟon that the LCF was carried on 
to defraud creditors.   

Moving on to the Ponzi scheme, my Lord.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Is that a good moment for the transcriber's break?   

MS DWARKA: I would think so my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Five minutes. Thank you very much. (11.58 am)   

(A short break)   

(12.05 pm)   

MS DWARKA: I was moving on to the Ponzi scheme, my Lord.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: The second way in which it is said LCF's business was conducted with the intent to 
defraud creditors is that it was run as a Ponzi scheme. That allegaƟon appears at paragraph 21A of 
the re-reamended parƟculars of claim. If you could, please, read that, my Lord.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: My Lord, there is no legal definiƟon of Ponzi scheme, but I think that we would all 
agree that the soliciƟng of investment from the public to fund an enterprise which was bound to the 
certain knowledge of the promoters to fail because of each consƟtuent part of the business was 
inherently economically unviable, is a Ponzi scheme.   

There are at least two problems with paragraph 21A. The first is that, although the claimants use the 
words "Ponzi scheme" what they allege does not amount to a Ponzi scheme as I have aƩempted to 
define it. The only complaint, at paragraph 21A, is that LCF loaned money which was used to pay 
interest and the inference is sought that that was the intenƟon. But lending to enable the borrower 
to pay interest is a commonplace. Many loans include an interest element, which is oŌen retained. 
That would not amount to a Ponzi scheme unless there was also the element of inbuilt, inevitable 
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collapse. But that is not intrinsic in lending to cover interest and, in any event, it is not pleaded. The 
second problem is that paragraph 21A appears to be enƟrely circular. It is like saying the business of 
LCF was carried on with intent to defraud creditors because it was a Ponzi scheme, ie a scheme to 
defraud creditors. It is circular because it does not explain why LCF was a Ponzi scheme or, indeed, 
whose scheme it was.   

Moreover, there is no expert evidence in this case to the effect that LCF's business was bound to 
collapse or that it was a Ponzi scheme.   

Moving on to parƟcipaƟon and knowledge of the fraud, my Lord. The other two ingredients of the 
tort are that the defendant was a party to the fraudulent trading and that he had knowledge of the 
fraud. These are pleaded against Mr Thomson at paragraph 24 of the re-reamended parƟculars of 
claim in relaƟon to him being a party, and paragraphs 34 to 35 of the re-reamended parƟculars of 
claim in relaƟon to having knowledge.   

Would my Lord like to have a look at the --  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

Do you want me to look at those?   

MS DWARKA: Paragraph 24 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim and then paragraphs 34 to 35.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes, if I could go over the page, please. (Pause).   

Yes, the next page, please.   

(Pause).   

Yes. And then 34 to 35?   

MS DWARKA: 34 to 35, my Lord, yes.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

(Pause).   

Yes.   

MS DWARKA: The pleading of parƟcipaƟon, my Lord, is not the most controversial aspect of this 
case. Clearly, he was a director. But there is sƟll a point. It is said that he caused LCF to do certain 
things. In reality, of course, he did no such things. The board of directors did but he did not do that 
on his own. The pleading would need to explain but doesn't even try to, how he either imposed his 
will on the board or circumvented it. The pleading does neither.   

So far as knowledge is concerned, Mr Robins presumably intended to plead that knowledge should 
be inferred. If so, and the pleading is not put in that way, he would have had to have pleaded the 
facts on the basis of which he invited the court to draw the inference. The facts pleaded at paragraph 
34 does not support that inference. They are, in summary, that, as director, he knew how the 
business was being conducted, the problem for Mr Robins is that, because he has not pleaded a 
fraudulent scheme, Mr Thomson's knowledge of how the business was being conducted does not go 
far enough.   
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There is one excepƟon. The parƟcular at paragraph 34(7) which is that Mr Thomson knew that the 
borrowers would not repay and that LCF's collapse was inevitable. That parƟcular stands in isolaƟon. 
It is not linked to anything else. Nothing is pleaded to support it whatsoever. It is as if Mr Robins 
realised at that point that he had a problem but then failed to follow through in the early parts of the 
pleading. In conclusion, on fraudulent trading, it is my submission that there is not a pleaded case fit 
to proceed. The case is put in two ways: false representaƟon and Ponzi scheme. The pleadings of 
both is manifestly defecƟve and there is nothing in the re-reamended parƟculars of claim to link 
either to a fraudulent scheme.   

I will now move on to breach of duty, which is the second claim against Mr Thomson: namely, that he 
breached his duƟes as a director of LCF. The enƟre breach of duty case, my Lord, is pleaded at 
paragraphs 55, 56 and 57 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim. If you could please read them, 
my Lord.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. I have read that.  

MS DWARKA: Thank you very much.   

Paragraph 55 is simply a pleading that Mr Thomson and Mr Golding were directors of LCF and owed 
the Companies Act duƟes. The duƟes are familiar: to act within powers; to exercise independent 
judgment; to exercise reasonable skill, care and diligence; to avoid conflicts; not to accept 
inducements; to declare interests. But they are separate and disƟnct and, if Mr Robins wished to 
assert a claim for breach of duty, he would need to idenƟfy which duƟes were engaged and how they 
were said to have been breached. Mr Golding is said to have been a de facto or shadow director, but 
no parƟculars, save for the few vague averments set out in a set of further parƟculars -- they are 
found at <B1/4> -- are pleaded to support that averment.   

Mr Thomson denies that he was. There is no pleading that Mr Thomson was Mr Golding's nominee 
either. Paragraph 56 sets out the allegaƟons of breach compendiously in seven bullet points which 
simply summarise the claim in fraudulent trading. There is no separately pleaded claim in respect of 
any parƟcular duty; for example, there is no claim in negligence and, for that reason, it would not be 
open to the court to conclude that Mr Thomson had negligently breached a duty. Because, my Lord, 
it is either fraudulent trading or nothing.   

Paragraph 57 is an aƩempt to suggest that the enƟre shorƞall has been occasioned by breach of 
duty. Without parƟcularisaƟon, it is simply not possible for the claimants to mount that case. Unlike 
fraudulent trading, which is an insolvency remedy and which gives the court wide discreƟonary 
powers in relaƟon to remedy, breach of fiduciary duty is a claim which requires proof of breach, 
causaƟon and loss. None of those elements, my Lord, is addressed in this pleading. In summary, on 
breach of duty, my Lord, it is my submission that there is no claim fit to proceed. I will now turn to 
the claim in knowing receipt, which, to remind ourselves, is a claim that Mr Thomson received trust 
property, knowing that it was trust property.   

My Lord, if you could go to paragraphs 64 and 65 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, can I just check a reference that you gave me to do with -- you said there 
were some parƟculars of --   

MS DWARKA: <B1/4>, that is further parƟculars in respect of Mr Golding.   
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MR JUSTICE MILES: I am just looking at that, sorry, as I am listening to you. That seems to be to do 
with the circulaƟon of monies. Maybe it is a different one.  

MR ROBINS: I think it is page 34 of the document we are looking at actually. Paragraphs 27(1) to 
(1A).  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Those parƟculars seem to be to do with -- I think to do with the circulaƟon of -- 
you know, the Ponzi scheme allegaƟon, I think, the one you gave me the reference to.   

MS DWARKA: Yes, I will probably have to check that and get back you to, my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes. So you were going to go on to knowing receipt.   

MS DWARKA: Knowing receipt. Yes.   

I have asked you, my Lord, to look at paragraphs 64 and 65 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim, 
which plead the claim compendiously against all the defendants.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: My Lord, in respect of the reference you asked for, it is not relevant to this secƟon.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: All right.   

MS DWARKA: Then, my Lord, if you could please read paragraph 66 and paragraph 67, which sets 
out the claim against Mr Thomson only.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: It will be noted that all the payments Mr Thomson is said to have received came not 
from LCF but from third parƟes. But it is said, at paragraph 65, that, in each case, the money 
originated from LCF but passed through different enƟƟes, the controlling minds of which had the 
requisite knowledge that the money remained LCF's beneficially. As we have set out in our opening 
statement, Mr Thomson has a clear defence on the facts. For reference, our opening statement is at 
<C2/1>. In his witness statement, Mr Thomson sets out the posiƟon in respect to the sums received. 
It is at paragraphs 156 to 189. My Lord, if you could -- I will give you the reference. That is <C2/1>, 
and it starts at page 53 of that document.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: He explains there --   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, I have just got as far as 160. It is quite a long passage you are referring to.  

MS DWARKA: It is, my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: How much of it do you want me to look at now?   

MS DWARKA: You may come back to it later, my Lord. I just wanted to you have a look at it generally 
to see his factual case.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   
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MS DWARKA: They are worth having a quick look at. But it is said -- would you like me to conƟnue, 
my Lord?   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes, you carry on.   

MS DWARKA: It is said there that -- so, his defence is some of the sums received arose from the 2015 
exit agreement, some related to Christmas bonus from LCF, some related to consultancy fees, and 
some were never received at all.   

We say, more significantly, for the purpose of this opening, that the claim is fundamentally flawed as 
a maƩer of law and it cannot succeed. To support this, my Lord, I need to refer to the excerpts from 
the relevant chapters of the Civil Fraud textbook referred to in our opening submissions at paragraph 
141, and in the bundle of texts at <S3/7>.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: At 12-003 on [internal] page 367, it is said that:   

"The essenƟal requirements of a claim in knowing receipt can be derived from two Court of Appeal 
judgments El Ajou v Dollar Land Holdings Plc and Bank of Credit and Commerce InternaƟonal 
(Overseas) Limited v Akindele. A claimant must show:   

"(1) Receipt of the claimant's asset (or their traceable proceeds) by the defendant;   

"(2) Such receipt arising from a breach of fiduciary duty or trust owed to the claimant by a third 
party; and "(3) Knowledge on the part of the defendant that the assets he received are traceable to a 
breach of fiduciary duty or trust, sufficient to make it unconscionable for him to retain the benefit of 
the receipt."   

Then, if we could go on to [internal] page 371, paragraph 12-013.   

(Pause).   

It is said there:   

"An asset is the claimant's in this context if he has a subsisƟng equitable proprietary interest in it. 
This will include assets which the claimant owns outright, assets which are held on trust on his behalf 
and (probably) assets over which the claimant has a charge or mortgage. It will also include the 
traceable proceeds of such assets."   

If we can then go to paragraph 12-015 -- I think it is on the same page -- it is said there: "It should be 
noted that if assets are transferred to the defendant under an ostensibly binding contract between 
the claimant and the defendant, they are no longer (from the point of transfer) the claimant's assets, 
and so no acƟon in knowing receipt will lie, even if the contract was entered into in an obvious 
breach of fiduciary duty, of which the defendant knew. So long as the contract subsists, the 
defendant is enƟtled to rely upon his contract with the claimant to jusƟfy his receipt of the assets. In 
order to pursue an acƟon in knowing receipt in such circumstances it is necessary, first, to set aside 
the contract (which it will frequently be possible to do, though the claimant will lose the benefit 
thereof)."   

The authority menƟoned, the authority for paragraph 12-015, is the decision of the House of Lords in 
Criterion ProperƟes Plc v Straƞord UK ProperƟes LLC. My Lord, that authority is found at <S2/82>.   
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(Pause).   

At paragraph 4, my Lord, Lord Nicholls says: "I respecƞully consider the Court of Appeal in Akindele's 
case fell into error on this point. If a company (A) enters into an agreement with B under which B 
acquires benefits from A, A's ability to recover these benefits from B depends essenƟally on whether 
the agreement is binding on A. If the directors of A were acƟng for an improper purpose when they 
entered into the agreement, A's ability to have the agreement set aside depends upon the 
applicaƟon of familiar principles of agency and company law. If, applying these principles, the 
agreement is found to be valid and is therefore not set aside, quesƟons of 'knowing receipt' by B do 
not arise. So far as B is concerned there can be no quesƟon of A's assets having been misapplied. B 
acquired the assets from A, the legal and beneficial owner of the assets, under a valid agreement 
made between him and A. If, however, the agreement is set aside, B will be accountable for any 
benefits he may have received from A under the agreement. A will have a proprietary claim, if B sƟll 
has the assets. AddiƟonally, and irrespecƟve of whether B sƟll has the assets in quesƟon, A will have 
a personal claim against B for unjust enrichment, subject always to a defence of change of posiƟon. 
B's personal accountability will not be dependent upon proof of fault or unconscionable conduct on 
his part. B's accountability, in this regard, will be strict." Here, the loan agreements have not been 
rescinded. On the contrary, the administrators have relied on them and enforced certain rights under 
them. As an example, my Lord, the decision of the ICC Judge Jones in LCF v LOG, which is found at 
<S2/155>, where the current administrators' appointment as the administrators of LOG which was a 
director's appointment was challenged by Mr Barker, the administrators applied for recogniƟon on 
an alternaƟve basis, namely, that they had appointed themselves on the basis that LCF was a creditor 
and a qualifying floaƟng charge holder of LOG. See paragraphs 17 and 20. They can only have done 
that on the basis that they affirmed the loan from LCF to LOG. My Lord if you want to have a look at 
paragraphs 17 and 20, please.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: It follows that Ɵtle in the money passed from LCF to the borrower companies by virtue 
of the loan agreements. There has been no rescission or purported rescission.   

My Lord, if you can now turn to our opening statement and read paragraphs 147 to 156. Our opening 
statements are at <A2/3>.   

(Pause).   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: There is no pleading of sham, my Lord. There could not be because, as I have 
menƟoned, the claimant affirmed the loan agreements by using the power of appointment in the 
associated security documents. In summary, on knowing receipt, there is no case fit to proceed. 
Therefore, the case in relaƟon to this cause of acƟon should be struck out.   

That has broader consequences than simply for Mr Thomson. The claims in knowing receipt against 
all the defendants are equally bad in law and must all fail. As a footnote, the result of that is that the 
administrators have lost any route to recovery of the monies which were paid by the resort 
companies to the defendants on the proprietary basis.   

Coming back to my suggesƟon as to how the claim should have been structured had they followed 
that route, they would have had unanswerable claims through each residual borrower company 
against directors and shareholders for misappropriaƟons and/or unlawful distribuƟons. But those 
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claims are now Ɵme barred. No doubt the lawyers' team will be consulƟng their professional 
indemnity policies on this point.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: There is no applicaƟon to strike out, is there?   

MS DWARKA: Not yet, my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, what did you say?  

MS DWARKA: Not yet, my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Because that is not a merely technical point, it affects the course of the trial.  

MS DWARKA: Yes.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Because, so far, we have had an opening from the claimant, we have had 
openings from the other defendants, this is your opening, we are about to get on to evidence. If 
there is an applicaƟon to strike out, then the court would have to first of all consider whether it 
should be now entertained in all the circumstances, where we are in the middle of a trial; but 
secondly, how it would be dealt with. The quesƟon then would have to be not whether you are right 
but whether the claimant has an arguable case, a case which is beƩer than remote or something like 
that. I would then have to hear further submissions on all of these points from the claimants, which 
is then going to lead to yet further rounds of submissions, no doubt. So I raise that as a real point. 
There is no applicaƟon to strike out, you have said these various -- I have understood your arguments 
where you say these are the legal reasons why you say the case doesn't work, and that is fine, but 
when you go on and say the court should now strike out these claims, that is a different thing.   

At any rate, I will leave it to you to decide whether to make such an applicaƟon formally and, if so, 
the court will then have to, no doubt, hear submissions as to how it should be dealt with. But there 
has been -- this part of the case has been on the pleadings for a very long Ɵme, there have been 
previous arguments about amendments and so on, there has been a whole series of interlocutory 
hearings, including CMCs, and now, for the first Ɵme it seems, it is being suggested that part of the 
claim should actually be struck out. So I would like to you go away and think about that. I am not 
going to say anything more about it now.  

MS DWARKA: Thank you, my Lord. I think our plan is to hear from Mr Robins in terms of his reply 
and what he says about the pleadings and then we will take a decision.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Well, the pleadings is one thing, because pleading points are about whether the 
case is properly pleaded or not. The quesƟons of legal analysis and so on, he wouldn't have a right to 
reply on. He has had his go, he has chosen not to open on legal points, that is his call but that is the 
course he has taken. But he wouldn't have a right now to come back on legal points unƟl closing, and 
I wouldn't expect him to. It would be different if he was facing a strike out applicaƟon because 
obviously he would have to deal with that. But that would be a different maƩer procedurally and we 
are not there at the moment.   

MS DWARKA: Noted, my Lord. I will take instrucƟons and find out what the plan is.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Yes.   

MS DWARKA: That brings me to the proprietary injuncƟon in this case, and in parƟcular the 
proprietary injuncƟon against Mr Thomson.   
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We say the claimant has no viable proprietary claim and it follows that the court should not have 
granted proprietary injuncƟons. The court raised with Mr Slade on Monday the quesƟon whether the 
proprietary injuncƟon directed to Mr Thomson was obtained by consent. That will be checked but 
we say that if the enƟre claim in knowing receipt is struck out, then the proprietary injuncƟon will fall 
away with it, whether it is made by consent or not.   

Dishonest assistance, my Lord.   

The claim that all the defendants, apart from Mrs Hume-Kendall, dishonestly assisted Mr Thomson 
and Mr Golding to breach their duƟes as directors of LCF, and that Mr Thomson and Mr Golding 
dishonestly assisted each other, is pleaded in a single sentence with no parƟculars of assistance 
whatsoever. My Lord, that is found at paragraph 90 of the re-reamended parƟculars of claim. That is 
at <B1/2> if you wish to have a look.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Sorry, is this being brought up by the operator? Thank you.   

(Pause)   

Yes.   

MS DWARKA: We say, my Lord, that there is nothing in there and that claim is not fit to proceed 
either. My Lord, unless I can assist you further, those are Mr Thomson's opening submissions.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Right. Well, thank you very much and I would like to commend you on your 
presentaƟon of that opening.   

MS DWARKA: Thank you.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Where does that leave us in terms of evidence? Because I had thought this was 
going to take all day.   

MS DWARKA: Me too, my Lord.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: You have obviously been economical. Is there a witness who is ready?   

MR ROBINS: I need to take instrucƟons, my Lord. The plan was for them all to come tomorrow, it 
may be possible for some to come this aŌernoon.   

MS DWARKA: Sorry, I would be grateful to have this aŌernoon to be able to prepare for tomorrow, if 
that is possible.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Is it going to be --   

MS DWARKA: It will be a day.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: It will be within a day?  

MS DWARKA: It will be within a day.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Right. We have had quite a lot of gaps now, it is becoming rather a gappy case. 
Are you able to do any this aŌernoon? I gathered from what I was told the other day, it must have 
been on Monday, that you had spent some Ɵme over the weekend preparing?  

MS DWARKA: I did, my Lord, but with the fact that I had to do the opening and I had to digest quite a 
lot of informaƟon, I have parked that a bit. But I will be ready for tomorrow. I didn't expect to do it 
today. I can, if you want me to try to --   
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MR JUSTICE MILES: Well, I have taken on board what you have told me about your experience and so 
on, and I do want to ensure that, as far as possible --   

MS DWARKA: And I have come quite late --  

MR JUSTICE MILES: -- proper accommodaƟon is made.  

MS DWARKA: Yes, my Lord. Especially when it is only last Friday that I found out that I had to do this.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: Right.   

If it is on the fooƟng that the evidence will be completed within less than a day, Mr Robins at the 
moment I am inclined to give Ms Dwarka a liƩle bit more Ɵme on that basis.   

MR ROBINS: We are in your Lordship's hands.  

MR JUSTICE MILES: We will deal with all of your client's evidence in the course of tomorrow.   

MR ROBINS: Yes. Absolutely.   

MS DWARKA: Thank you.   

MR JUSTICE MILES: Okay. So we will again rise now and reconvene tomorrow morning.   

MS DWARKA: Thank you.   

(12.50 pm)   

(The hearing adjourned unƟl 10.30 am the following day) 
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